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NEW SALEM EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH:
AN EXAMPLE OF THE GOODNESS OF GOD!

While no Christian congregation exists in this world apart
from the grace and goodness of God, perhaps in few congregations
is this truth more evident than in the history of New Salem
Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Sebewaing, Michigan. When
the actions of men or the minds of men might have doomed the
congregation countless times, the grace of our loving God
preserved it, even as He preserves it still today nearly 140
years later. Let the writer and the reader constantly bear in
mind the pogsitive influence of the goodness of God, even as we
are occasionally forced to consider some of the less pogitive
aspects present in the congregation's past. After all, humans
are sinful, but God was, is, and always will be GOOD.

Before we can delve into New Salem's personal history, some
introductory information would bhe beneficial. We need to begin
with Michigan's very first Lutheran pastor, Pastor Friedrich
Schmid. Schmid arrived near Ann Arbor in 1833 fresh from the
Mission House in Basel, Switzerland. He organized Salem
Congregation there in Scio Township from where he reached into
the rest of Michigan with the Word of God. He was a dedicated,
hard-working man with a deep-roocted concern for the scattered
German settlers in the New Land. In fact, he organized over
twenty churches throughout Michigan to serve these pioneers.
Schmid's =zeal and self-sacrifice were hardly peculiar for the
early pastors in the land. What set Pastor Schmid apart from the
rest, however, was his dream of teaching 'the poor Indians who
are living without God and without hope".  In his letters to his
beloved Basel Mission House, Schmid wrote often of these "poor
heathen", commenting that Christ is '"the Savior of Sinners, and,
of course, the Savior of the Indians", “ and how "it is,
therefore, our duty to direct our attention earnestly toward the .
heathen Indians in order to come to their help with the Gospel."”

The Lord blesged Schmid's visionary dream. "In the early
vears of the forties, when two more Lutheran preachers joined
him, he founded the first Evangelical Lutheran Synod {the first

Michigan Synod]. He named it "Mission Synod," because he as well
as hig congregation had in mind to carry, on a heathen [Heiden]
miszion among the Indiansg of Michigan." The initial step had

been taken; now all that was lacking were the missionaries. To
answer the need, Schmid himself bhegan training bright young men
from his Scio congregation. When Johann Simon Dumser arrived in
Ann Arbor on June 6, 1845 from the Basel Institute, Schmid
commissioned him along with Johann J.F. Auch and Georg Sinke to

preach the Gospel to the Indians. "Among the Lutheran
missionaries in this field, they were the first. landing on the
shores of Saginaw Bay at Sebewaing on June 16, 1843, There they

pioneered among the Chippewa Indian tribes at Wishkawking
[Unionvillel, Seebewaying [Sebewaing], Shebahyonk ([Wildfowl Bay],
and numerous other points along Saginaw Bay." " There was an
abundant harvest to be won when these men arrived; Seebewaying,
meaning 'Crooked River", numbered approximately 100 Indians,
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Shebahyonk numbered about 80, and Wishkawking nearly 60.6

Initially, the missionaries experienced blessing in their
work among the Red Man, especially with the children who attended
their school. Eventually, however, several factors began to
hinder the pioneers' mission. It is recorded that the Indians
were "misled by unscrupulous white agents" ' to turn away from the
migssionaries. Possibly the agents only confirmed a gripe the
Indians already had; there were too many blue-eyed Indians
walking around. Apparantly Old Auchie liked the Indian maidens,
which made it difficult for the Indians to accept the
missionaries sincerity in regard to Christian morality.
Furthermore, as more and more white immigrants arrived in the
area and began clearing the forest., the Indians were gradually
forced to abandon the region in search of more prolific hunting
grounds. To attempt to follow the wandering, splintered tribes
through the trackless forest would have been very nearly an
sffort in futility. Consequently, when the white congregation at
Sebewaing (Immanuel) formally extended a call to Pastor Auch in
their first annual meeting on February 16, 1852 he accepted it.
At their second annual meeting, Immanuel voted to Jjoin the
Migsouri Synod.

Meanwhile, Pastor Schmid had assisted Pastor William Loehe
of Bavaria by locating fertile areas for settlement. Fastor
Loehe shared in Schmid's burning desire to bring light to the
aborigines who were currently lost in utter gpiritual darkness.
Hia approach differed from Schmid's in that he felt the outreach
could be best accomplished from entire missionary settlements
instead of only isolated missionaries. In 1845, the first of
four such Bavarian settlements was founded on the Cass River and
was called Frankenmuth.

Loehe happened to be a staunch conservative Lutheran from
top~to—-toes. He originally supported Schmid's synod and missions
under the delusion that the synod was staunchly conservative
Lutheran. It soon became apparant, however, that Schmid's
dedication to the Book of Concord was only on paper. Under him
“"the administration of Holy Communion according to the Reformed
nractice was permitted" in the congregations, and missionary
Dumser, "who refused to gccept the Lutheran Confessionsg", was
aent among the Indians. & Pfarrer Schmid himself wrote to Basel,
"If the godly truth is proclaimed in a godly and powerful manner
and the pastor lives in the strength of the gospel, then the
truth-loving and the truth-seeking people of both confessions can
get Ltogether through the strength of the Word." '

When there is doctrinal disagreement something has to give,
and something did. Schmid refused to sign a "loyalty oath to all
of the Luth@rﬁg symbolical books as demanded by the new
missionaries" "and his Migsion Synod dissolved. '"Now the work
which he had begun at Sebewaing was taken over by the
missionaries of Wilhelm Loehe and was %pcorporated into the
Indian mission of the Missouri 3ynod." ™ Concerning this
developement, Schmid wrote to Basel dejectedly., "That we have
erected a mission here and that we have already worked a year



ameong the Indians with blessing in this state is already known,
and that our missionaries joined the Old-Lutherans and that they
demanded from uzg what we couldn't do, you probably know also;
thus nothing else remained for us except to turn over the mission
with its missionaries to the Old-Lutherans, and thus our mission
endeavor is restricted. " ™

Thisg is significant in New Salem's history because when
Pastor Schmid encouraged another group of settlers to relocate in
the Sebewaing area, he urged them not to join Auch's church.
Schmid obviously disfavored the missionary he had trained but who
had since severed himself from Schmid’'s unionistic tendencies.
Perhaps word of Auch's fornication strengthened the spiritual
father's conviction. At any rate, Schmid hoped that Peter
Schairer, John Baur, Philip Schlemmer, John Strieter and their
families would form their own congregation.

In order for these settlers to reach their destination, they
somehow had to traverse approximately one—~hundred miles of
wilderness. Michigan was still, for the most part, vast wirgin
forest interrupted occasiconally by swampland, and, even less
ocrasionally, by a settlement. Because bridges over creeks and
rvivers were virtually non—existant, journeyers forded waterflows.
The few roads that had been cut were in deplorable condition vear
round — the only variance being in the amount of deplorability
caused by current weather conditions. For these reasons, most of
the Ann Arborites who traveled to Sebewaing in the early years
opted to conclude their trip via Saginaw Bay, either by boat in
warm seasons or across the ice in the Winter. Very likely
Schairer and his group were no exception to this rule.

Shortly after they had established themselves, a sizeable
group of families from Tiffin, Ohic arrived on the scene.
Included in these migrants were Konrad Zimmer, Nicolas Zimmer,
Frederick Armbruster, Mathias Armbruster, Valentine Wagner,
Theobald Becker, and Frederick Ziegler, among others. The
nucleus the new church required was present and in the fall of
1853 the sescond church in the "thumb" of Michigan was organized.
Its first Church Council consisted of Peter Schairer, John Baur,
and John Strieter. As Pastor Miller wrote so heautifully, "The
newly-organized congregation was given the name New Salem in
honor of its mother—church in Scio Township, but above all, to
gserve them as a continual reminder of the New Jerusalem or New
Salem above, the city fair and high, the goal of their earthly
pilgrimage, where they expected to find sweet repose following
their trials, temptations and battles of this earthly life. Thus
New Salem of Sebewaing, active and full of much spirituyal life,
became a true daughter congregation of Salem at Scio." ™

This sarly congregation had two very evident problems; it
had no church in which to worship and it had no shepherd to lead
the worship. The first problem was relatively easy to solve;
“For want of a church they assembhled themselves 1n a private
house, [the home of Peter Schairer, which still stands on the
corner of Caro Road and McAlpine Road, though in disrepair], and
edified themselves from the foundation of the prophetz and
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apostles that Jesus Christ is the Cornerstone.” Lacking a

minister was a slightly larger obstacle to hurdle. When they
approached the overloaded Pastor Schmid with their dilemma. he
traveled the great distance himself in order to administer the
Word and Sacraments Lo his fledgling congregation. Schmid's
devotion to former members can perhaps best be understood when
one reads these words written by the man himzelf: "There are
frequently Germans settling here in the wilderness who have a
difficult time for several years to acquire the necessary means
to support themselves and their families, during which time they
zuffer many sad hours. and if they were deprived of the comfort
of God. what else would they have? TFor that reason I must
proclaim the Gozpel to them, whether they can give or not.'
This he did to the tiny congregration at Sebewaing whenever he
had opportunity until a closer man could be procured.

Incidentally, 1833, the year New Salem Congregation was
organized, happened also to be the year Auchville was officially
organized into a township. DBeing the small community it was. the
men from New Salem were very involved in the township's birth.

In that first meeting, Peter Schairer and Jacob Armbruster were
elected as Justices, Jacob SBtrieter became a Highway
Commissioner, and Friedrich Ziegler was one of the three
conztables. Four vyears later, interestingly., the township's name
was changed to Sebewaing. Perhaps we owe it to the influence of
our church's forefathers that New Salem i1g now located in the
town of Sebewaing and not Auchville.

By 1854 Pastor Schmid wag able to offer the congregation
closer help in the person of Christian Volz, a former trainee of
hig. Christian Volz was a pastor at 5t. Pauls in Saginaw who
traveled throughout the Saginaw Valley as a missionary. On his
Jjournevs he zaw to it that New Salem was not neglected. Reverand
Christian Volz had only served the bhudding congregation in
Sebewalng a half-year before he accepted a call to Lansing,
whereupon he was replaced in Saginaw by his younger brother
Conrad on November 14, 1834,

Pagtor Conrad Volz, also a pupil of Schmid's, wasted no time
in making his way to Sebewaing. Only eight days after his
arrival he was gstepping out of the warmth of his new home in
Saginaw to walk the 45 chilling November miles to Peter
Schailrer's house. Similarily he made this trek abhout once a
month for over a year until a permanent man could be secured for
New Salem. Of these walks it 18 recorded that, '"Far and wide
there was neither road nor bridge. Directions were indicated by
certain signg hewn by the lumberman's ax into the trees, bhut it
was an easy matter to lose one's way. Father Volz,., however, a
stoul stick in his hand, made his way through the forest,
traversing the swamps by jumping from one stump or log to the
other. Now and then he missed his feooting and landed in the
water, but he kept up his good humor in spite of such hardships.
In later yvears he told many an interesting tale of ‘vroughing it'
in the early days and humorously referred to hig practical
misgionary boots, which were so full of holes that the
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accumalated water ran off freely.“j'b

Through Conrad Volz, arrangements were made in the spring of
12854 for the congregation to purchase twenty acres of land from
Conrad Kull of Saginaw. Thig parcel would be on present day Cavo
Road where New Salem's cemetary still occupies a portion of the
original plot. Already the goodness of the Lord was becoming
evident to the tender flock.

Oh, the rejoicing, when in 1855 the members received word
that they were to be bleszsed with their first resgidential pastor!
A fair amount of scurrying was also occasioned as the
congregation had no parsonage in which to house him. They
gathered together on thelr newly purchased acerage and
constructed New Salem's first building. a log cabin parsonage.
This was hardly a one or two man job. The trees. most of which
were hard wood., had to be manually felled with a cross—-cut saw
and cut to length with gang saws. Someone would then stand on
the logs and scour—-hack the round edges off. BSubsequently, a man
who was handy with a broadax would square one side, measure, snap
a chalk line, and square the other side. Naturally. the lumber
had to be rolled or carried from where 1t landed to the immediate
building site and mortises and tenons had to be chiseled into the
endsg to secure them in place. Finally, it was time to set the
logs in place. They were lifted as high as possible by hand
while men on the other side of the framework hoisted with ropes.
Then pikes, (poles with a sharp hook imbedded in the end), pushed
them into the proper position. After the log walls were
standing, heavy clay was used to plaster the crevices of the home
both internally and externally. Two-and—a-half foot shakes were
split out of cedar or pine to shingle the roof. Any furniture
would have been hand-crafted. The floor was made of dirt. Crude
though 1t may ssem to us, New Salem's first parsonage was
certainly as good as or better than any of the first homes of the
parizhioners. This was simply the way people lived in primitive
Michigan.

2t last, in October of that year, Pastor Friedrich Nuffer
arrived. The congregation bleosgomed. In fact, it became
neceasary to build a church because Peter Schalrer's house could
no longer accomodate the increasing membership. So, in 1856,
work was begun on a small and humble worship facility. That same
year the log church was dedicated with great joy to the one true
God, to the God of grace and goodness.

While the people of New Salem finally had a minister in
their midst to eagse their spiritual hardships, the physical
difficulties of frontier life still remained. The people of
Sehewaing today are so far removed from the severity of those
early piloneers that we cannot fathom what they endured as daily
routine. '"Most of them arrived here [in Sebewaing] without
funds. They did not have to starve exactly. There wasg an
abundance of fish and game. The maples furnished sugar aplenty.
And vyet it frequently happened that the gettlers did not see any
bread on their tables for weeks and had to subsist on potatces
and cucumbers.'" ™ Of course, in season wild blackberries could



be found in clearings., and Indian corn and other graing were
harvested between the stumps. Since few of the early cabins were
equipped with a fireplace, the cooking had to be done outside
with a kettle on a tripod. Bread wasg baked on flat rocks in
homemade ovens.

Few of the forefathers escaped malaria due to the tremendous
hatch of misquitoeg in the swamps; none of them escaped the
terror of the wild animals of the dense forest. "There was the
bear, the lynx (wild cat), and above all, the timber wolf.

During cold winter nights the wolves would howl around the
cabins., Often their front feet were on the window gill as they
looked in. Their dreadful howls could be heard for many miles.
However, the pioneer had his door well braced from the inside,
and people did not venture out affer dark without carryving a
torch made of hickory hark tied to a green stick. Years later
woelves would still destroy entire flocks of sheep in a single
night and the settlers would then track down theilr hideouts and
deztroy the animals. The bear was troublesome too. Bears were
fond of pigs and it would take a strong pen to shut the bear
out.” 7 Such was frontier life in the Thumb of Michigan.

Gradually, however, the dark forest in the area waz cleared
by the rush of immigrants. The poverty in Europe caused by the
Napoleonic Wars, the prospect of inexpensive, fertile ground, and
“he chance to "gtart over'" brought large numbers of German
pioneerg to Michigan. The authors of an American history bhook
penned thig somewhat humorous description of these immigrants
"Seeking to preserve their language and culture, they sometimes
gettled in compact 'colonies' and kept aloof from the surrounding
community. Accustomed to the 'Continental Sunday' and uncurbed
by Puritan tradition, they made merry on the Sabbath and drank
huge quantities of an amber bheverage called Bier (beer),, which
dates its real popularity in America to their coming.'" ™

An interesting., and probably typical, example of a German
settler in the Sebewaing area 1s Friederich Jedele. He left
Durweiler, GCermany in 1830 at the age of five. He resided in
Sc¢io Township with his parents "until 1855 when he purchased near
Sebewaing 160 acres of State land for $250.00 [about $1.50 per
acrel]l. The property at the time was all woodland, traversed only
v Indian trails. -— He wags the first farmer in that vicinity to
own a team of horses, having walked to Ann Arbor, a distance of
more than 125 miles, to purchase them. He also had the first
frame barn, which iz still standing although it has been rebuillt.
He helped organize the New Salem Church, and wag, the first man to
be buried in the New Salem Cemetary [in 18681." " With all these
migrants and immigrants relocating in the Sebewaing area, New
Salem's congregation steadily grew.

Then in 18%9 Pastor Nuffer left the congregation. Later,
Pastor Binhammer described the transfer as "stepping over to the
Misgouri Synod." © Perhaps because of this "stepping over', but
certainly because the congregation wished to respect their
founder's wighes of avoiding the "0Old-Lutherans', the next vyear
they sent a delegate to a very important meeting. On December 10
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and 11 of 1860, John ¢. Bauwr became a part of history when he was
one of eleven men, and one of two laymen, to found the second
Michigan Synod. It was in the Detroit study of Pastor P. Mueller
under the auspices of Friedrich Schmid that the new synod was
organized and, put into effect. New 3Salem "resolved
unanimously'" “to join it.

Only a few months prior to this important meeting, New
Salem had received a new pastor by the name of H. Steinecke.
Pagtor Steinecke incorporated the recording of decisions into
their meetings, written of course in German. These minutes
provide much insight into the affairs of the young church. For
instance, in the first meeting under his direction held on
October 4. 1860 the following decisions are recorded: 1) the
pastor is to be paid quarterly. 2) a pulpit is to be built by May
of 1862, and 3) the good wood which is recovered from the
c¢learing of the congregational land is to be used for heating
pUrposes.

Thease early meetings varied conziderably from our church
meetings today. First of all, the annual meeting was held on a
weekday. probably a Monday. and was an all day affair. The body
racessed for lunch, but resumed an hour later. The goal was to
conclude business before evening chores, but I imagine this was
difficult to achieve at times with all those full-blooded Germans
sgquabbling back and forth. Generally. the pastor was elected
chalrman for the day. More importantly, however, the
congregation needed to provide itself with a janitor and grave
digger who lived relatively close to the church property. The
grave digger had to be a hearty man for he only needed to dig
thirty inches or s0 in the New Salem cemetary before hitting
heavy, yellow clay. Of course, if the funeral was held in the
winter, the digger would have to resort to the pickaxe even
zooner. Often in the early years the same man was elected to
fulfill both functions, as was the case when George Wagner was
glected to the dual position for 1865. His remuneration was to
be $2.00 a year for Jjanitorial werk, $0.75 per child's grave and
$1.50 for anyone over fourteen. ™ Speaking of money. those early
churchmen avoided debt at all costs. TIf there happened to be a
congregational deficit at the annual meeting, the attenders
dipped into their pockets and wiped 1t out on the gpot.

Another differance between then and now i1s evident in the
way the church was governed. Matters tended to be handled much
more legalistically in the eighteen~hundreds at New Salem than
modern members arse accustomed. A heavy emphasis was placed on
fulfilling "the obligations of membership" and on "abiding by the
Church Regulations" or else, individual's names would be "stricken
from the membership list." * It was frowned upon and rarely
allowed for members to send their school-aged children to any
other school than the New Salem Church/School. Membership
privileges included individuals chipping in a certain amount of
money to put the congregational bocks in the black. At the
annual meeting of 1868, for instance, it was decided that each
member was to pay $0.25 to liquidate the church debt. 3 vyear



later $0.50 dues were assessed. It was also decreed that each
member who plants was Lo supply the pastor with one bushel of
grain. ™ As the congregational land was cleared and became
farmable, the members were counted on to work it. When church-
related projects needed to be done, abgenteeism undoubtedly
demanded a healthy excuse. Members were also expected to provide
the pastor. church and school with firewood. Another obligation
of membership, albeit an unspoken one, provided the pastor's
family with fresh meat whenever parishioners were butchering.

It ig interesting that already in 1861 mention 1s made of
New Salem Church 8School and by 1864 a School Board was being
elected. The pioneers had the option of sending their children
to Trmanuel 's well—established school, yet they chose instead to
have Pastor Steinecke teach them in the tiny church. This he
did, as did all of the pioneer pastors to serve the congregation.
At the time, it was generally understood that the reverand's job
description included all of the preacher tasks — and all the
teacher tasks as well.

In 1864, after nearly four years of service, Pastor
Steinecke left New Salem. He was replaced by a man named Robert

Wiesgse. Little is known of Pastor Wiese except that he ministered
t¢ the congregation the duration of only six months. Apparantly

there were some serious problems under his care and the
congregation nearly collapsed. Many members left the group and
joined "a neighboring congregation." ™ In fact, even what
remained of the congregation was standing in question. On March
9, 1865 the shaky condition of the congregation 1z evident by the
first resolution of the day; "resolved that the congregation
should continue to exist." ™ BAnother gignificant developement of
thiz meeting was the decision that, in the future, only wafers
ware to be uged for Holy Communion, [instead of bread as was the
Reformed or Unionistic custom]. Was Pastor Wiese expousing more
Reformed doctrines than many of the members of early New Salem
cared to tolerate? We will probably never know for certain. If
indeed that was the case. then he did the congregation a great
service, for New Balem took a serious step toward conservative
Lutheranism.

It is interesgting to nokte that shortly after New Salem edged
away from Reformed Communion practice, the new Michigan Synod
began to embrace a purer Lutheranism as well. “The presidency
was in this yvear [1867] transferred from Pastor Schmid to Pastor
Klingmann, who had just moved to Scio. With the exit of Pastor
Schmid as president, a cycle of Lutheranism begins which was
marked by greater awareness of and a greater fidelity to the
Confessions. WUp to now a great dgal of unionistic leaven had
managed furtively to penetrate." * Only a vear later in 1868 the
synod resolved unanimously to condemn millenialism and the Secret
Societies, and to congider Holy Communion and the exchange of
pulpits with those of another faith as intolerable. The Michigan
gynod, with New Salem firmly entrenched in its care, began a
gradual drift toward congervative confessionalism.

After Wiese's departure from the congregation, a long and trying



vacancy followed. Repeated requests were made of the synod's
aging president, Pastor Schmid, for another shepherd. In the
meantime the flock tried to nourish itself and keep its lambs
from straying. Undoubtedly nearby pastors would periodically
administer the Word and Sacraments to them, but any sense of
congistancy wag lacking. Finally. in the fall of 1867, Pastor
Henry Gangnuss moved into the Sebewaing parsonage. What a burden
rust have been removed from the shoulders of every member of New
Salem when Reverand W. Reuter of Bay City installed their next
regzident pastor. Their new minister was to receive the whopping
gsalary of $300,00 a year for ministerial duties, and $350.00 more
for teaching. ™

The Lord in His goodness blessed the work of Pastor Gangnuss
at New Salem. The fact that he remained in Sebewaing nearly
seventeen yvears was a blessing in and of itself for he provided
the splintered congregation with stability. "He especially .
promoted the educational system which had fallen into decay." ™
From the first of November until the first of May, school was
held Monday through Thursday from nine in the morning until three
in the afterncon with an hour recess for lunch. Two of the days
of the week, Pastor Gangnuss would dismiss the younger children
an hour early in order to hold Confirmation Instructions. Summer
school met from May first to November first on Mondays and
Tueasdays. Pfarrer Gangnuss 1s reputed to have been a fantastic
teacher who even taught the children alg§bra in the old log
church. "He was anything but a dummy," " when 1t came to
teaching.

Apparantly he wasn't,a half-bad pastor either. "He had
those guys on the step!" ™ Under Pastor Gangnuss, the Lord in
His goodness caused the congregation to grow and prosper once
more. According to the annual statistices of the Michigan Synod,
by 1875 the number of communicants at New Salem had soured to
well over two hundred. ™ Through the grace of God, New Salem
blossomed Lo such a degree that an extensive building program was
undertaken. The first addition to the church property was a .,
frame harn twenty-—eight feet wide by thirty—eight feet long. ™
Thig would enable storage of farm equipment for working the
church land and of feed for any livestock or poultry the pastor
might own.

A short two years afterwards on May 15, 1873, the
groundbreaking and cornerstone laying for a new church took
place. Soon, under the direction of carpenters Henning and
Matthias Birsching, the building arose just North of where the
nld log church stood. Naturally, the work was all done by hand,
though by now the buildings took on a more finished appearance.
This time, beoards and siding were even purchased, very likely
from the Kundinger mill in Kilmanagh. This church even had steps
up to a special entryway with provisions to hang up coats. It
was an entirely seperate room which extended to the edge of the
balcony. If one were to sit in the balcony, he wouldn't even
wallk into the church proper; the steps were in the entryway. The
congregation added two bells in the belltower and an organ to
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complete their house of worship.

On the tenth of October of that same vyear, twenty vears
after its organization, the congregation dedicated itgs new
worship facility to "the service of the Triune God." ™ It was a
day of great jubilation. Pastor Miller reported that, "after a

short service in the o0ld log church, — the doors of the new
church were unlocked and the congreggtion and guests from

- . o AL . -
neighboring congregations entered." Services were held 1in the

morning and afterncon with Reverends Christoph Eberhardt of
Saginaw City, William Reuther of Bay City, and Willlam Kramer of
Zilwaukee sharing speaking honors with Pastor Gangnuss. The
entry into the minutes on the occasion concludes with the
statement that, [Members of neighboring congregations attended in
large numbers." ” Today, nearly 120 years later, the members of
New Salem still assemble in that same structure, though the
church has been raised and renovated considerably since then.

Two Summers later the congregation built Pastor Gangnuss a
new home. It was thirty feet long, twenty feet wide, and sixteen
feet wide and was situated South of the churches and East of the
barn. ™~ In style, the house resembled the typical two-story
farmhouse so prevalent in the area. This was only appropriate,
however,. since in those days the parsonage actually waz a
farmhouse - the pastor serving as both parson and farmer. 5 a
final finishing touch, Pastor Gangnuss planted a row of locust
trees in front of the house paralleling the road. New Salem
Lutheran Church could now witness visibly the extent of the
bounteous goodness of the God they worshiped. The old parsonage
can still be seen today in its original location South of the New
Salem Cemetary. One almost wishes the house could play back the
countless German catechism lessons which bounced off its walls or
reproduce the spirit of the faithful men who dwelt under its
roof. The building proper may no longer belong to New ZJalem, but
a portion of New Salem will always belong to the building. From
then on, the old log church sandwiched between the new parsonage
and the new church was uzged as a =choolhouse. It continued to
zerve New Salem in that capacity for ten more years.

In the Spring of 1885, Pastor Gangnuss received a call to
t. George Congregation in Genoa, Michigan. When 1t became
avident that he would be leaving, the voters appealed to
Preasident Christoph Eberhardt of the Michigan Synod to suggest a
replacement pastor. He replied with the name of Reverand A.
Mougesa but, for some reason, New Salem unanimously opted to call
Pazstor Wilhelm Kramer instead. According to the church minutes,
Reverand Kramer arrived an amazing six days later. He was a
tall., heavy—zet man with long zideburns and round spectacles.

Under him, the congregation employed the carpentry talents
of Matthias Birsching once again. This time he was to construct
a schoolhouse twenty-four feet in width, fourty-two feet in
length, fourteen fegt in height, and add a kitchen to the
pargsonage as well. ™ On August 29, 1886. President Eberhardt
preached the schoolhouse dedication sermon. With the smell of
aawdugt and fresh paint. the children began the school year in a

[§3)]
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hrand new schoolhouse.

That December the voters elected George Strieter as delegate
to a very special synodical meeting in Lansing. The topic to be
digrussed was the transfer of the newly established Michigan
Luthsran Seminary from Manchester to another city. Originally it
had been decided to erect the school in Adrian, Michigan. Yet,
at this zsignificant meeting the site was changed to Saginaw for a
congliderable gavings. Already New Salem was deeply involved in
the synod's pastor training school and it continued to support
the geminary avidly throughout itg existance. The members had
experiznced the difficulties of long vacancies, consequently they
wanted to avoid that problem in the future, both for themselves
and for their sister congregations in the Michigan Synod.

In retrogpect, it is perhaps unfortunate that New Salem
called Pastor Kramer instead of the pastor that the synodical
president had suggested. and perhaps equally as unfortunate that
Pagtor Kramer regponded zo swiftly. It seems that the German
zettlers in Sebewaing tended to be rather opinionated and bull-
headed at times. Couple these virtues with the German tendency
to hold grudges and one has the ingredients of trouble., This
would prove to be true numerous times in New Salem's history,
aven ag it did here. Apparantly some gort of rub developed
hetween members and pastor. Suddenly Pastor Kramer began to
sxperience unexplanable phenomena such ag buckets tied to the
horns of hiz cattle. When he received a call to Kalamazoo in
December of 1887. he accepted it and never looked back.

Pastor Metzger arrived next. He wasn't even in Sebewaing
two vears when he began to dgyelop problems as he preached. His
voilce became very “scratchy" " and coughing often interrupted his
sermons. When he wag diagnosed with Lhroat cancer, he retived
from the ministry and moved into Unionville, though he remained a
member at New Salem until he died.

January 1891 brought a new spiritual leader to New Salem,
namely,. Pastor G. Stern. Only a year later the congregation dove
into a major remodeling project. It was decided to raise the
church foundation by eighteen inches and to hire Matthias
Birsching to elevate the side walls of the church to eighteen
feet. & A sacristy was to he added on the South gside. the
halcony was to be enlarged, and the interior was slated for
plaatering and painting. Also. the pews which had previougsly
hutted up to the wall were to be repositioned away from the wall,
thereby creating three aisles instead of only one in the center.

In 1894, the final maior structure was built on the church
property in the form of several long rows of buggy sheds. The
sheds shared a common roof and were partitioned off with dividing
walls so that the horseg couldn't kick at each other. Each
member who lived further than walking distance from church would
maintain his own shed. Then, whensever there were doings at
church, he would lead his horse or team into his stall, cover the
animal or animals with blanketsz in cold weather., and go about his
huziness. If vou were able to scan the church land from North
to South in 1894 following this addition, this iz what wvou would
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see: the cemetary —— the church -— the parsonage —-— the bharn in
the background —-— the school -- the rows of sheds. God in His

goodness had blessged New Salem significantly.

While New Salem was undergoing change, significant
developments in the Michigan 9ynod brought change on the
synodical level as well. The idea of a merger between the
Michigan, Wisconsin, and Minnesota Synods was being addressed by
the parties invelved. On May 22, 1892, a resolution worthy of
mention was passed by New Salem Lutheran Church. The minutes
read: "The congregation declares itself completely in accord with
the Jjoining of the three synods, Michigan, Wisconsin, and
Minnescta, with the understanding that she not be denied her
rights as a congregation." = The voters also elected Peter
Schairer as delegate to the upcoming synod meeting.

At this historical gathering of the Michigan Synod, two
major decisions were made by the men in attendance. First of
all, the synod resolved to make application for membership to the
Evangelical Lutheran Synodical Conference which was established
to unite confessionally minded Lutherans throughout America. The
gsecond decision of the assembly was to "concur in a merger with
the synods of Wisconsin and Minnesota." ™ The result of these
resolutions was that the Michigan Synod was accepted into the
Synodical Conference and the merger between the three synods took
place in October of 1892, Becaugse 1t seemed quite practical, the
Michigan Svynod agreed to convert its seminary in Saginaw into a
preparitory school. Neo one could have seen the repercussions
within the boundaries of Michigan which would follow this
concesgion. Simon Baur of New Salem attended a conference 1in
Yaginaw which met in the hope thaft reconciliation could he
achieved bstwesen copponents. This was not to be. Bitter
contention finally resulted in a temporary split within the
gynod, desolved the ties with the Synodical Conference and the
Wisconsin Federation, dragged the seminary into disarray, and
even filtered animoszity intoe individual congregations.

New Salem may have been one of the congregations hit
hardest. Note the words recorded from a March 8 meeting in 1896,
"This meeting was called to discuss a collection for the seminary
in Baginaw, Michigan. -— After it was pointed out what the
object of this collection was, namely, to bring the quarrels
within the synod into the congregation, it was left to each
member to give whatever he wanted to give with the matter being
settled in this way:; that Peter Schairer be asked to regc¢eive the
gifts to gee that they are delivered to the seminary." = In
subsequent meetings tensions mounted between pastor and members
and accugations flew. Then on June 28, the voters gathered
again. These are the words from the minutes of that meeting:
"Thiz meeting was held to discuss a letter addressed to Elder
August Armbruster from Pasgstor C.F. Boehner, President of the
Michigan Synod. In the letter the gquestion was asked of the
2lders whether it was necesgary to have a visitation since from
certain sources the Synod and members of the same and the
professors at the seminary have been slandered and efforts have



13

heen made to get the congregation to join another synod. After
some digcussion a motion was made and supported to suspend
membership with th%inchigan Synod until the quarrel within Synod
has been settled."” = The motion was passed by a nineteen to
fifteen, vote and suddenly New Salem found itself cutgide the
synod.

Thig independence didn't keep Sebewaing from bheing
intimately inveolved in Synod affairs, however. "The Michigan
Minority lopposed to the Seminary transition] that had been
sugpended by the announcement that appeared in the July 1896
Synodal-Freund, immediately assembled at Sebewaing with the
intent of carrying its case to the August 12-17 meeting of the
Synodical Conference at Evansville, Indiana." & The Sebewaing
convention adamantly condemned President Boehner and those who
held with him.

Yet, only a month later while the Evansville Conference was
in session, New Salem's official stand flip-flopped. On August
15 the motion to withdraw from the Michigan Synod was rescinded
by the close vote of seventeen to fifteen. Because Pastor Stern
could not agree with the decision, the minutes state that heg was
removed from office with a twenty-five to sixteen decision. ™
Some contend that he was not '"removed" by the congregation, but
rather that he resigned of hiz own accord. Regardless, New Salem
Congregation once again lacked a pastor. Not quite a month later
on September 11 the assembly gathered again in the schoolhouse,
and, as Secretary Simon Baur writgg, "an extraordinary
congregational meeting was held." ' One can readily realize why
he chose the word "extraordinary'" to dezcribe the events that
occured that day. Pastor Stern's suspension was reaffirmed and
the regignations in the August meeting of two eldersz and two
trustees were accepted. The mortgages and other papers were to
be retrieved from the former trustees and the old lock on the
chureh was to be replaced. Furthermore. Pastor Binhammer was
unanimously elected to be called as the next pastor, with Pastors
Merz of Saginaw and Waclker of Berne being agsked to serve as
vacancy pastors.

One final effort was made to restore unity. Some of the
members who were sympathetic with Pastor G. Stern presented a
protest before the voters assembly. They declared their
willingness to remain members of New Salem provided that these
conditions were met: "1. We ask that our up to now opposers agree
to a God pleasing and orderly way as our Church Constitution
states in that they in a wrong manner removed Pastor G. Stern as
our Pastor who wag called in an orderly congregational meeting
and that they rescind this motion. As soon as Pastor Stern
receives an orderly call we are prepared to release him in peace,
however we want a pastor from the Synodical Conference. 2.
Further we are prepared to join the Michigan Synod of which
Pastor . Klingman is pregident. If it will help to restore
peace we are also willing to hold an orderly congregational
mesting at which representatives of both Michigan Synods are
nregent. However, we declare for once and for all times thatlt we

5~
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will have nothing to do with the old Michigan Synod. However, if
our present opposers cannot agree to these terms and continue as
they have started and have resolved, we can no longer conscience
bound rmmdln with them and hereby declare our severing of
membership. The_letter was written by Pastor Stern and endorsed
by nineteen men. ”'“Thc Congregation resolved unanimously not to
accept the protest, to accept the severing of membhership by the
opposers and to send the call to the elected Pastor C. Binhammer
as soon as possible." ™ Concerning this action, the following
addendum was penned by the secretary, '"We feel sorry with all our
heart that we have to accept the severing of our opposers and
pray to God that they will see that they a1e wrong and 1In a
peaceful manner return to our congregation.’ H

Pastor G. Zftern left the service of New Salem and he left
the Michigan Synod, bhut he took approximately a third of the
congregation with him. Not only were the memberg who followed
him a sizeable bunch, but, almost to a person, they were young
people - people who could have expanded and solidified the core
of New Salem for vears to follow. Pastor Stern and his followers
formed a congregation they named "Zion Lutheran”. holding
gervices in Immanuel Lutheran Church's old country school., Eion
existed until Pastor Umbach arrived at Immanuel. He persuaded
them, zince they were "so few'", to join his congregation. Many
have maintained since that if itz members would have remained on
thelr own, Zion could have been a flourishing congregation.

During all this scuffling, an important man entered and
ited New Salem's membership without a mention. The first
acher was called for the 1825 school vear. His name was F.W.
Vogelpoh!l and, not surprisingly. he resigned at the end of the
95-36 school vear. Another teacher would not be called for
twenty-eight years., consequently. the ministers resumed the role
of educating the children.

So ends a sad chapter in New Salem's history. Yet, by the
grace and goodness of our loving God, a much more pleasant
chapter began with the installation of Pastor Binhammer on
November 9, 1896. Pastor Binhammer was a short. round man; a
picture of him with a confirmation class shows him to be
mntl]dnked by the thirteen and fourteen vear—-olds. He wore a
Inshy . dark mustache and round spectacles and tended to exude a
lot of nervous energy - "“his feet were always going.'" ™
Concerning him, Edgar Hoenicke wrote, "“One of the frequent
victims of [the Michigan Synod pastorsg'] practical jokes was a
ghort, rotund, florid-faced pastor, Carl Binhamwer of Sebewaing
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up in Michigan's 'thumb.' His colleagues always called him just
‘Kalli.' Our father said he was a very intelligent man with an

1mp1e551ve knowledge of Greek and Hebrew, but he was also
somawhat naive and far too trusting of his long-time friends.
Among these was his neighbor, Pastor George Wacker from Pigeon.
whom he called 'Tchortsch.' He was the very counterpart of
Binhammer, tall and lanky, with a long, chiseled face. ——

Another classmate, a man with a keen sense of humor, Pastor Iritz
Krauss of Lansing, often conspired with Wacker in playing these
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pranks on 'Kalli,' who could always be depended on to explode
with voluble indignation, but also to ceool down just as quickly
and to join the others in laughing at his own gullibility. He
knew very well that the Jjoke had been played on him in the spirit
of the German adage. 'Was sich liebt, das neckt sich.' (They who
tease one another, love one another.)" ™

Although he was a short man and perhaps naive with his
collegues, he was a strict teacher and authoritative
digeciplinarian in church matters on the home front. After New
Salem had been severly rocked, God provided a rock of a man.
After the congregation had been racked with instability, God
provided stability. Pastor Binhammer served New Salem faithfully
for twenty—-five years.

In 1903, New Salem geared up for its fifty year anniversary.
It was decided to make the following improvements on the church
interior: astenciling was to be done by Hover and Son, the pews
were to be painted, a basement was to bhe dug and a new furnace
ingtalled there. The exterior of the church was not neglected
either; it wag painted and reroofed. Then on Augusht 23, a
tremendous jubilee took nlace as the anniversary was celebrated
in conjunction with both miszion festival and Synod Convention,
which was held in Sebewaing that year. Pastors Bodamer, Krauss,
and Heidenreich addressed the throng and the choir from St.
Johns, Berne edified the services. BAmazingly, eight of the
founding members were present yet to witness the special dav.
They were Peter Schairer, Phillip Schlemmer, John Sting, Nicolaus
Miller, Kenrad Zimmer, John Baur, Theobald Becker, and John
Armbruster. These men must have realized to a special degree
just how good God had been to the congregation they had started
fifty vears ecarlier.

Sixteen months later in January of 1903, an interesting
meeting took place in the church. Because the congregation was
3till in debt from their remodeling. the congregation resolved in
cearnest to ammend the situation. First of all, they decided to
take a special collection for the treasury on a quarterly basis.
Secondly, as was the precedent, each member was to be charged
$1.50 to liquidate the debt. (When it was necessary. the
trustees would go on c¢ollection drives on Sunday afternoons,
Typically, .Jthey didn't get far because they would talk to
everyone." ) It was alseo decided at this meeting that the
congregation would have nothing to do with farming the church
land, therefore Pastor Binhammer's salary was raised fyrom $350.00
to $450.00 to reimburse him for his time and expense.  He would
now officially wear three hats: pastor, teacher. and farmer. One
other resolution was passed which had bearing on a wider scene.
"Resolved to instruct our delegate to the Synod Convention (Adam
Zimmer) to valbe for the rejoining of our Synod with the Synodical
Conference." ” The winds of change and the breezes of healing
and forgiveness were blowing in Michigan. In a few short yvears,
the seversed Michigan Synod would be reunited and regain
membership with Wisconsin and Minnesota in the Joint Synod.

Back at New Salem, exactly two yvears later, the voters
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determined to obaerve Mission Festival annually. Mission
Featival had become the highlight of the year for the country
congregation on Caro Reoad. In fact, current members of New Salem
who were privelaged to attend these festivals still beam when
they speak of the gatherings in "the grove.'" The grove wag
gituated in the Southwest corner of the congregation's property
and could be reached by means of a lane on the South side of the
buggy sheds. Here in the grove the entire congregation gathered,
along with numerous members from the surrounding Lutheran
congregations (Sebewaing, Unionville, Pigeon, Bach, Kilmanagh).
fore an entire day of Christian fellowship. People even came from
ag far as Pay City and Saginaw, for the trains, which normally
sat idle on Sundays, specially steamed into a town where a
Miszion Festival wazg taking place.

At New Salem, services were held in the morning and in the
afternoon with guest preachers addressing the gathering from a
tiny, raised platform. Out in the open-air the ministers had to
really boom it out, especially on a windy day. or they would not
be heard in the back. Their listeners would be scattered
averywhers, some gitting on planks set on posts under the
canvass, some leaning against a tree, and some, primarily the
voung men, gstanding in the back. At the concession shed between
services, an attendee could purchase pop oy lemonade (kept cold
in a water tank full of ice), candy bars, ice cream, cake made by
the ladiss, hot dogs, or even cigars. Also availahle was an all
yvou can &at meal prepared by the ladies of the congresgation on
oil-burners in the kitchen shed. One can readily understand why
thiz day was eagerly anticipated then and fondly remembered now.

January of 1909 brought another problem to New Salem; Fastor
Binhammer had received a call te Bay City. The problem was
golved when the men of New Salem voted unanimouzly not to release
himi. While this seems strange to us who are used to the pastor
making his own decisicon, in the earlier decadez of this century
congregations tended to make the decision for the pastor. Either
they instructed him to leave, or they prohibited it. From the
church records it is evident that New Salem did not hesitate to
resort to this measure to keep a man. In fact, they emploved it
often, especially where Pastor Binhammer and Pastor Schmelzer
were concerned. Consequently, the two men combined back-to—hack
for a total of 49 years in New Salem's midst.

An interesting annotation in the church minutez from June
20, 1915 deserves some discussion. "The Chairman [Binhammer)
opened the discussion of the question of having liturgical church
services and emphasized the beautifying and enhancing of the
church worship service by the use of the liturgy is voluntary.

Tt is not demanded by God's Word nor is it forbidden, however, it
woulld enrich the church worship service of the congregation if it

were adoptegd. It was further explained what is meant by the
liturgy . 7 Az it turned out, the voters tabled the issue until

the annual meeting at which point it was dropped. Only after
four vears had passed was the congregation ready to give the
liturgy a six month trial run. Six monthe later, June 1219, the



17

liturgy was discontinued; the members preferred the old order of
service.

Perhaps a look at the services of New Salem in “the old
days’ would be appropriate here. The bells signaling the start
of the gervice would ring at 10 o'elock on Sunday morning. If it
happened to be a communion Sunday, however, the communicants
would gather at church a half-hour before the service for
"Beichte," " or confession, in order to prepare themselves
properly for reception of the Lord's Supper. As the members
sagembled inside the church, families divided to take their
regspective places. The men always sat in the pews on the left
gide of the church and the women sat to the right of the center
aisle. If one held an elected position, however, he took his
proper place in the front pew with the rest of the officers.

In the service proper, there was little congregational
involvement other than the singing of a few hymns. (While the
organist accompanied the congregation, "0ld Man Wiemers' would
place two fingers on the wheel on the side of the organ and crank
air into the bellows to provide volume. TFrequently, however. he
gave organists fits as he began to doze off in his chair, causing
the volume to tail off sherply.) The pastor talked "auf
Deutgch, " of course, and the congrsgation was expected to listen
attentively. This could prove to be extremely difficult,
especially on particularly warm days, for the pastors "liked to
hear themselves talk." ™ Hour-long sermons were the rule rather
than the exception. Originally, collections were not taken
during the service:; members dropped their contributions into a
little box mounted in the entryway. In time, 1t was taken pew hy
pew by means of "Klingelbeutel's. which were long poles with a
little pouch mounted on the end. The ushers would walk down both
gides of the pews and reach acrogs to the halfway point.
Apparantly it was not unheard of for the pouch to be held in
front of a member until a willing gift was given. When a
contribution was made, the bell zewn into the bottom of the pouch
anncunced it to all. Finally, an hour and a half or two hours
after the service began, the congregation was released.

Church played a zignificant role in our ancestors lives.

Not only was 1t the period of the week they spent with their
Lord, bhubt it was the social event around which the rest of the
week hinged. After the service 1t was not uncommon for families,
especially those who lived a considerable distance from church,
te be invited to share a meal and the afternoon with a family who
ved closer In some cases, families had a regular stop every
unday where they would disgcuss church affairs and concerns of
he day.

One topic that must have occupied considerable attention in
such discussions waz the impending entrance of the United States
into World War I. On April 23 in 1916, a special congregational
meeting was held. This is what Albert Baur recorded on that day:
"After the church service, the chairman [Binhammer] announced the
reason for this meeting in a few short words: if it is our
respongibility to do our duty toward the state and the land in
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which we live, then now is the time to do so with all our
strength. Our president with his last memorandum to Germany has
hrought our country to the brink of war. We as Christians and
citizensg of the United States should earnestly protegt that our
country not become involved in the war. Should this protest as
well as the earlier petitions have no influence in Washington,
then we at least have done our duty and will have a clear
congcience in case war 1g declared by our country agalnst
Cermany. We do not want to be responsibhle for this crime since
it would be a crime to wage war with Germany for the reasons
given. Thersfore it was regsolved to send the following protest
to President Wilson and our three congressmen: We, the
Evangelical Lutheran New Salem Congregation, emphatically protest
against any act that would involve our land in a war with
Germany. As loval citizens of our country we ask our
repregsentatives in Congress to use their influence so that our
country will not be drawn intc a war against Germany." = New
Galem's feelings on war with the "homeland" are quite clear. The
congregation isgsued another formal protest against war 1n
February 1917. Interestingly, after war was declared, NPW Salem
contributed $50.00 to the treasurer of the army and navy. o

Another deep concern which must have been bounced back and
forth excitedly in conversation among members in 1920 was a
proposal to cloze the parochial schools 1In Michigan. The
particulars of the proposed "School Ammendmant' ~“are unclear.
Perhapg it was hecause anti—German sentiment still flowed freely
2z a result of the war and because many of the parochial schools
taught in German that this movement against the parochial schools
arose. Jow much of a threat and how seriously the opposition
planned to pursue the matter is questionable. Regardless, the
members of New Salem took the threat seriocusly and formally
protegted the proposal several times. It i1s ironic that at the
very time the congregation was up 1n arms over the mandatory
closing of parochial schools, they closed thelr own voluntarily.
Exactly why they clozed 1t is, and probably always will be, a
myster

A differant problem soon faced New Salem. At the wvoters
meeting on January 2, 1921 Pastor Binhammer informed the
congregation that he had received a call to Allegan, Michigan.
Before they could respond, he requested a peaceful release. This
: subsequently granted him and Pastor HBinhammer's stay in
,lhwalng came to an end affpr all of twenty-five vyears. By the
. of God, Binhawmmer had steered the congregation through

gome murky and riled rapids. The souls of the small Sebewaing
yglﬁuh owed him a debt of gratitude and would certainly remember
him fondly as long as God granted them life in this world.

On June 5, 1921 the congregation extended a call to Pastor
Gustav A. Schmelzer of Detroit but he returned it. A strange
incident followed. Instead of calling another man, the voters
reviged the call and sent it back to him. Thizs time Pastor
Sehmelzer accephted. He and his family arrived in Sebewaing in
July of that same year,
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Pastor Schmelzer wag rather tall and heavy-gset with a bald
head znd gpsctacles. Those who knew him describe him as "the
most common man that ever walked the face of the earth. He could
sven associate with a begger on the street." ™ "Even the old .
German-Hungarian Catholics in the area spoke highly of him." ™
He was every bit the farmer that his parishioners were. On the
church grounds during his stay could be found milk cows,
chickens. pigeons in the loft of the chicken—coop, rabbits in
hutches., and beehives in the apple and pear orchard behind the
pargsonage. It was not uncommon either for wild game to find its
way to the Schmelzer's dinner table for Pastor Schmelzer loved to
hunt. On pleasant days he would frequently walk into the
surrounding countryside to vigit members, despite the fact that
he owned a car. Paul Bolzman recalls Pastor Schmelzer arriving
on foot at his father, Walter's, home four-and-a-half miles
distant from church. After dinner, Walter would drive him home
again. Regarding his preaching, i1t was said that he "put on a
long sermon, " preaching a healthy hour,  long with an "ersten.,"
"zweiten,'" "dretten.'" and conclusion.

One of the first actions of New Salem's new minister was to
lobby for the reopening of the gradeschool. In the August voters
meeting he stated, "It is very important that the school be
opened again since it is the nursary of a Christian
congregation.” ™ His wish was granted. After a year of silence
in the scheoolyard, the children's voices were again heard at New
Salem Lutheran School in the fall of 1921. The children who
entered the school doors initially did so under the jurisdiction
nf Schmelzer himsslf. He taught for three years until the
congregation brought in Mizs Erna Hinz as teacher in 1924,

Schoel in that one—room country schoolhouse was a unigue and
spacial experience unable to bhe paralleled today. The school day
hegan for the children with the walk to school. Some lived
relatively clogse, but others lived quite a distance away. Paul
Bolzman, for instance, walked four-and—-a-half miles to school,
(sometimes backwards to avoid a cold Northwest wind), and the
August Gaeth children walked all the way from Unionville.
Clemence Baur said that he lived three—and-a-half miles from
sehool but, whenever possible, he biked the distance.

Attendance was approximately thirty to thirty-five children
generally, although at least one year Erna Hjinz taught nearly
fifty — an amazing feat and a mammoth task. " Of necessity the
older students helped the vounger cones learn.

The students were taught exclusively in German, at least in
the early twenties. Seating also differed considerably from
today am the children sat two to a bench. Writing was done on
zlates, but students were also equipped with bottles of ink and
pieces of wood with a writing tip stuck in the end. This is
reputed to have been a "slobbery mess.” ™ Occasionally the daily
routine was altered and the children would have opportunity to
display their prowess in special gpelling matches. Two upper—
graders would chose teams, sach trying to corral the more gifted
gpellers, until every student was on one side or the other. The



team with the last standing speller won the match. Another
variance in the usual schedule would occur when there was a
funeral at church, at which timeg the children would file into
the church balcony and sing a song.

After full-time teachers took over in the school, Pastor
Sehmelzer held confirmation instructions in the parsonage.
Following the meorning deveotion in the zchoolhousge, the sixth and
seventh graders (children were generally confirmed after seventh
grade) asgembled in his 11v1ng room. Occasionally Pastor
Schme lzer would arrive a bhit late from his milking, but the
children would sit patiently in their chairs and wait for him.
Then, to the ding—a-ling-a-1ling of the cream separator in the
kitchen, Pastor Schmelzer thoroughly taught them their
catechisms. Those present set their minds to learning the truths
of the Bible and to their memory work becauss they knew very well
thaet, after Cwnflrmaflon, they would be involved in Schmelzer's
"Chrisgtenlehre." © Christenlehre was the special privelage of
recent confirmands to sit in the front left pew and answer
gquestions or recite memory work every Sunday during the church
service. Understandably, it was a day of great rejoicing when a
student, after two vears of faithful service, would be released
from the Christenlehre duty.

The children attending New Salem School eagerly looked

forward te their recesses, especially the hour long noon recess,
the game as any Schoolchild doeg. After the children were

released for that noon recess, Misz Hinz would walk over to the
Schmelzers for lunch. At this time the older girls were expected
to fill a ten or twelve quart granite pail with water from the
wand pump on the South side of the school. Meanwhile the boys
ere to restock the firewood supply in the furnace room. The
annoving part of their Jjobh was that the entrance to the school
was on the East end of the building and the furnace waz on the
West end, forty—-two feet away. One day one of the boys had the
bl?ii%turm to simply open the furnace rvoom window and toss in the
instead of walking all that way. All that remained of the

WOood 1D
job then was to stack the wood inside. When Mias Hinz noticed
atl th, scuff marks on the €floor one day,. however, she secrefly

&
watched Lh@ boys. That was the end of throwing wood in the
window.

After the children had eaten their lunches and done their
chores, they were free to use the rest of the recess as they
nleased. The boys of the 1920s were every bit as much boys as
the bhoys of toeday:; things were never dull around the New Salem
achoolhouse. On one coccagion Alan Gaeth forgot his report card
at home where, as was the cusgstom, his parents had signed it. 5o
he agked ﬁﬂmrde Schwenk, an older boy who had driven to school
with his fathers horse and buggy for catechism instructions, to
drive him home Lo retyieve it. George agreed and, much to the
horse's consternation, the two boys directed him to turn the
opposite direction of the Schwenk's residence. Consequently when
the horse hit the edge of the pavement at Beck Road, (which, by
the way, ig still there -~ one of the oldest pieces of cement road
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in the area), the horse broke into a full gallop. George
abandoned the buggy and Alan, both of which ended up in the ditch
after the hitch broke. Another time the boys were Jjumping down
from the havmow in the harn when Frederick Gaeth migsed a rung on
the way up. He landed on the floor helow, severely breaking his
arm. Another day someone accidentally knocked out the blocks
replacing the migsing stove leg and the furnace, blazing
fiercely, toppled over. There wag also a time when one of the
hoys took an axe and smashed Lhe organ because he didn't like to
s1ng.

Activities were plentiful on the corner of Beck and Caro
Reads. There was an clearing South of the buggy sheds where the
children could play ball or other games. In the Winter, the
Sahewaing River which flowed just East of Caro Road offered ice

Ling. Ancother Winter option might be sledding down the hill
on the Schmidt land which was situated a short walk to the North
of the church land on the East side of Caro Road. Kindly Mrs.
Schmidt even lcaned the children a tobbagon. Springtime had its
own special allure. The church grove burst into bloom with
wildflowers prime for picking by a pretty fraulein. The nearby
creel, meanwhile, hosted scores of spawning fish — a schoolboy's
dream come true. With a bent safety pin, some old twine, a piecs
of brush, and a few earthworms, the boys were in business
Believe it or not, they were successful! Once Ed Loeffler had
hung his fresh catch of perch under his bench for safekeeping
when Pastor Schmelzer spied them. The fish bhecame his donation
to the Schmelzer family. The nearby water served ancother purpose
for the boys; after a warm May rain had raiszed the river, they
would depogit their clothing on the bank and go swimming.

Sadly, those school days in New Salem's one-room country
schoolhouse can never he recaptured, but. thanks to memory of
zome members, thpy can always be treasured.

One other facet of the gradeschool deserves mention — the
annual children's Christmas Eve service. DBefore the congregation
arvived, sgome of the men would mount a tremendous cedar tree in
the church -~ ons which reached the ceiling. As was the ancient
custom, candles on candle-holders were clamped to the branches.
Then, previous to the service, the candles were 11t by means of a
burning candle fas 1Pnﬂd to a long pole. The effect was marvelous
indesd! The one drawback of this custom was that the tree had a
tendency to catch fire. As the children delivered their verses,
the elders or school board members stood ready with a wet sponge
or rag attached to another long pole in order to douse any flare-
ups. They must have done a credible job at this since New Salem
Church 1s still standing. It would be necessary also, since it
was an evening service, to light the ften or twelve kerosene lamps
on each of the twoe chandeliars hanging from the ceiling. Heat on
this December evening was supplied by the furnace downstailrs
which poured warmth into the church through one regigter in the
center aisle in the front of the church.

Regarding church matters,. the voters passed a significant
resolution on August 20, 1221. They ushered in an English
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service to be regularly held on the fourth Sunday of the month.
It would be a considerable extent of time befaore the language of
the New World would replace the language of the 01d World in the
worehip lives of the Germans at Sebewaing. but the first baby-
atep toward that end had now been taken. Two vears later the
cangregaggon decided to adopt the use of "the small" English
hymnals.

Perhaps now is the time to share with the reader a few gems
written by long-time Secretary Albert Baur. Every once in a
while Albert would record a very serious decision in a rather
humorous way. Regarding the resolutions of the January 8, 1924
meeting, he informs us that Fred Armbruster was to bhe paid $.350
for phone use and that a new kitchen was to be bulilt in the
grove. "FPurther, that a new pulpit be built and a new toilet in
the Northwest corner of the grove." & Why they needed a pulpit
ot or in an outhouse in the Northwest corner of the grove is

puzeling indeed. Siw years later. also at the January mesting,
the following was decided. "The triangle [cemetary] 1is to be
laid out in lots., and every congregation member who chooses hasg
the right to pick a lot, with the regponsibility to f£fill it

himself." "~ Quite probably Albert was referring to the
respongibility of leveling off the lot., but maybe thers was a
concern that some people would shift the responsibility of
filling their lot to someone else?

Meanwhile, changes were taking place at New Salem. When the
pulpit was built originally, the traditional height was '"the
higher the better" so undoubtedly the architects of New Salem
built it the "hest" they could. In 1924, the pulpit was lowered.
Then, in 1926, the parsonage was raised three blocks and the
Southern side was excavated to increase the size of the
bagement. ' On July 4 of that same yvear perhaps the most
gignificant decision of all was made, at least the Schmelzer
family must have thought so. "After considerable discussion it
was voted to heook up to the line to light the parsonage with
electricity.” " What a change that must have brought to the
home !

An interesting developement occured in the Fall of 1226; St.
Paul's of Unionville confronted New Salem about receiving their
memnbers without a release. New Salem actually admitted that it
was at fault and apologized to 3t. Pauls. Apparently, the
Unionville congregation was looking for more than an apology.
however. for in July of that year the minutes record that a
complaint was filed with Michigan District officials. In fact,
Pastor Wilkenning from St. Paul,s and District President
Schinnerer approached Pastor Schmelzer demanding suspension of
John Strieter, who declined to return to St. Paul's. True to
form, the hard-headed New Salemites refused to nuckle under esven
to a District Presgident. They could see no reason to suspend
John Strieter, =zo they didn't. Finally, after much Jjousting, the
igmaue was dropped by 35t. Pauls.

1928 marked another anniversary of New Salem. God in His
goodness had preserved the congregation for seventy-five years.
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Little is known or remembered of that special jubilee except 1t
celebrated in conjunction with Migsion Festival con the last
Sunday in August. As usual, three services were held that day.

A tremendous turnout must have been expected because one thousand
programs were ordered. " While plans were being formulated,
Pastor Schmelzer received a call to Tawas City,. but the
congregation avoided any difficulties by voting not to release
him,

A e e
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Dctober 29, 1929 brought the American economy to its knees.
The farmers in the thumb of Michigan were not unaffected. In
1932 New Salem congregation asked Teacher Norma Meister 1f she
would he willing to take a pay cut from $90.00 to $70.00 per
month. ©° In fact, by 1934, the decision to cloge the school was
being seriously considered. (Finally, after much discussion. the
schnol wag retained.) At the first church meeting of 1933 it was
decided to hold a drive to ligquidate the congregational debt. DBy
April of that year, New Salem still had a deficit of $680.00 and
St. Johns of Sehewaing owed $650.00. 7 Consequently. talk of
merging the two congregations began in earnest.

St. John's Congregation was an independant Lutheran
congregation organized by Pastor Deichman from Linkville. The
church building itself had served a number of denominations
previougly., Originally it had been a Catheolic church located by
the Catholic cemetary until the Baptists bought i1t and moved it
to New Salem's current lot. BEventually the Lutherans took it
avaer and St. John's congregation was establighed. Size-wise, the
uilding wag considerably smaller than New Salem. It boasted
three rectangular windows per side and an ungainly entryway/
belltower bearing a striking resemblence to a turret tower on an
ancient castle. In 1913. however, the people of St. John's faced
a dilemma when Pastor K. Ziegler left them. They decided to
approach Pastor Binhammer of New Salem to serve them. This
request was granted them and from that time on New Salem's pastor
had two services on Sunday morning — the early one being at 5t.
John's., In January, 1921 a noteworthy decision was reached at
the annual meeting of New Salem. A committee of six men from 3t.
John's wag to attend meetings at New Salem with complete speaking
and voting privelages. Already that same year the topic of
merging was addressged, bub no decision was reached. The seed of
amalgamation was planted, but it took over a decade for it to
officially take root.

Throughout the Spring of 1933 a series of specilal joint
meetings between the congregations were held to hash out the
details. At these meetings, it was determined that: 1) there
would be joint ownership of the property of both congregations.
2) both congregations were accountable for the joint deficit, 3)
the merged congregations would be called New Salem, 4) the school
would remain where it was as long as the congregation owned the
property, 9) the larger country church would be moved to the city
cite, B) the cemetary would remain at the original location. 7)
the two bells of New Salem and the one hell of St. Johns would
all be used, and 8) the German hymnal of the Wisconsgin Synod and
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John's English hymnal would be used. When the vote was
1@l ly taken, nearly all of 8t. John's and New Salem were in
avor of the merger.
arning the moving of the larger rural church to the city
was more grumbling in the ranks. While most were in
Y at least not oppeosed to the move, some members did
ave New Salem due to the extra distance the move occasioned.
Regardlegs, in October of 1934 the congregation resolved to use
the $1585.00 of desgignated subscriptions to move the church into
the city. ' Herman Wagner, Adolph Baur, Fred Armbruster, and
Albert Baur were placed in c¢harge of Lhe arrangements. When the
former S9t. John's church wag sold to Walter Neumann in February
1935, plans could procesd.

The two churches were to be moved simultaneously on a
Saturday in that very month. Van Haren Movers were contracted to
move New Salem into Sebewaing while Neumann employed Louis Janke
for St. Johns. The 3t. Johns building was to be moved cnly a few
Llocks to the South-West corner of 5th and Zimmer Streets where
it became, and ztill i1s., a residence. FEven bhefore Van Haren
Movers began moving New Salem, the steeple of 3t. Johns had heen
removed and the church was leoaded and ready to go.

Baclk on Caro Road, meanwhile, zomeone from New Salem
congregation expressed so much concern that the church couldn't
be transferred with its zteeple and bells intact that the Van
Haren brothers became annoyed. They took the worried parishioner
into the church, placed a full glass of water on the altar. and
promised a free move 1T 1t was empty upon arrival. Then. uging a
Dodge truck, the men proceeded to slide the church through the

ields over greased planks. When the building reached the end of
he boards, everything halted until planks were prepositioned
21 ly . Anevewitness recounted how,. every time the bhbuilding
winched ahead, the steeple would jJerk severly. Thes movers
quite naturally followed the shortest route pozszible to their
degtination; they crossed the Beck fields East of the Birsching
farm, met up with M-25 where present-day Lukes stands, followed
the highway a szhort distance, then cut acrogs the open fields to
what wag then the end of 5th Street.

In the time that New Salem had Journeyed the distance from
its country setting, Louls Janke with his horses and rollers
st11]1 hadn't been akle to bhack the former St. John's edifice out
and transfer it the two blocks to its new cite. Consequently,
the New Salem church was forced to wait at the end of the street
until the path was clear. Since they had the time, some of the
Van Haren men entertained themselves by pestering old Louis
Janke . Now Louis Janke happened to be sgsomewhat of a hot-head.
and they soon had him throwing around axes and sledges and
whatever else wags handy. Eventually, however, StL. John's was
removed, and the New Balem church took its place. Van Haren may
have worked faster, but by the time New Salem was in position,
the clutch in the Dodge truck had bheen burned out.

With all the remodeling that was slated to take place in the
church, 1t wag temporarily necessary for the congregation to
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gather for worship in the schoolhouse. There, in the aschool
benches, the men, women, and children were instructed in the Word
of God. Regarding changes in the building, a new front entry was
added and the S5t. John's bell was mounted. St. John's old pipe
organ that Otto Eberlein had purchased in Lansing back in 1913 or
o was overhauled, reconditioned,., and installed in the front of
Mew Salem. The motor for the electric ballast was fixed in the
basement and its pipes and blower were positioned in the room
which ig now the church office., Behind them was a Liny storage
room 1n which the communion ware was kept. The manuals faced the
wall, =o the organist would sit with his or her back to the
congregation. Of necegsity. mirrors were mounted so that the
organiat would be able to obgerve the pastors movements around
the corner., Algso St. John's pews replaced New Salems old ones
(which were divided in the middle by railings) and are still
heing used today.

The basement was also dug out by hand. The first two-and-a-
half feet of gsand were relatively eagy to shovel; 1t was the clay
underneath that caused problems. The diggers were all thankful
that NmrmagﬁBaur was there with his team of horses and his "slugh
acraper.” 7 Norman had made a big trench on the West side of the
church in which the shovelers would pile the dirt. Then he would
pull his team over the pile, scoop 1t up, and drag 1t away. By
the time he returned, another pile was waiting for him. Finally,
the entire basement was cleared by hand and by hoof.

Worthy of mention is the cornerstone laying on April 7,
1435, Two services were held on that day. Pastor Schmelzer
preached in English at one and Pastor Wacker delivered a German
mesaage at the other. In 1977. when the new entrance to the
church was built, this old cornerstone was opened one morning by
Arnold Jedele and Hugo Hoppe, with a few members and the fifth
through eighth graders present. Our ancestors had enclosed some
coing of the vear, a German hymnbook., and a copy of the
Gemeingeblatt for posterity. Unfortunately, the paper was
geverly damaged by moisture through the years. On June 2. 1935.
the "new" New Salem in its new locatien was dedicated with three
rices.

The final chapter of the move into town was written in the
early months %f 1639 when the farm property on Caro Road was sold
for $2500.00. 7 This necesgitated that the school be moved into
C It was placed on the West side of the church where it
till stands today. At that time, the house to the West of the
chool which is now the teacherage was used as the parsonage.
> small teacherage, on the other hand, was situated South of
he church where the parking lot is today. When the congregation
g able to purchase the old Rydell house South of the teacherage
in 1945 or @mo, it became the parsonage, the old parsonage became
the teacherage, and Dorothy Yachim moved the former teacherage to
where it stands still today. The entire applecart was upset:
aven Pastor Schmelzer's bees were moved to Fred Gall's place.
Yaet, through the goodness of God, a major change had been
weathered., And through the goodness of God, New Salem
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Evangelical Lutheran Church and School still stand there todavy.

With all the discugsion about the merging of the
congregations, a sad event was temporarily set aside. Sometime
in the early 30, a large group of German—-Russian members who
lived South of Wisner caused a stir in the congregation.
Apparantly they would attend services at New Salem on Sunday
mornings,. then would gather again in the afternoon at the Wisner
Townghip Hall, or the Gleaner Hall as it was called, for praver
gervices. What bothered some of the other New Salem people was
that Pastor Schmelzer was not prese%; at these meetings.
Tensions roze. The "Gebhettbruders" “were migtreated by some at
HJebewalng and instructed to stop meeting separately, consequenhly
a vast majority of the Wisner people Jjoined St. Paul's Lutheran
o1 the Moravian Church in Unionville. Once again, a sizeable
group of committed members were driven away from New Salem by the
ward-headed domineering of a few.

Alao the arrival of Teacher William Arras in 1934 received
no mention. He was the first man teacher since Vogelpohl in 18926
and followed on the hee

eels of four lady teachers. He deserves a
paragraph due to the fact that he remained in New Salem's gervice
for sixw vears, longer than any other teacher for the decade
preceeding him or the ftwo decades fLo follow. He was the man who
had to adiust himzelf and his students to a completely new school

fowe}

zetting. To this day, he iz gtill remembered as an outstanding
teacher. In facht, he was g0 good that in 1936 his salary was
upped to $600.00, or about $65.00 a month for nine months. That
game year, Teacher Arras requested permission te organize what
was very likely the first Young People's Society. Permission was
granted. Then, in 1940, shortly after his call was changed from
a nine month to a permanent one with two weeks vacation, he
received a call to Bethel Congregation in Bay City and was
granted a peaceful release. He was replaced by Roland Bode.
While the world was gearing up for another war, New Salem
was undergoing major exterior changes. At the same time, major
interior change was alzso creeping into the worship life. At the
firat voters' meeting of 1940, it wag resolved to introduce a
liturgy 1in both German and English. Pastor Schmelzer and Teacher
Arras were to draw up the degign and present it to the Church
Council for approval. Upon approval, the liturgy was to bhe
printed into pamphlets for congregational use. It was also
determinad that day to hold English services on the first and
third services of the month, with German at the others. A ysaar

and a half later, the purchase of two-hundred English hymnals was
affirmed Tand, in april., 1942, it was decided to follow the

liturgy of these new hymnals. By 1943, even the church minutes
ere written in English. Soon, as the war with Germany

orograssed, the switch to all English services took place,
although 1t wasn't until 1980 that special German services were
completely abandoned. Ancother significant development around the
Ltime of World War II took place when the segregation by sexes in
the services came to an end. Families could now worship together
the God that had been so good to them in the language that was




most commonly spoken,
July 9, 1943 brought quite another c¢hange to New Salem
Lutheran Church. That evening, after dark but before midnight, a
fierce lightning storm unleashed i1ts fury over the little town of
3 & Suddenly, a thunderous crash exploded through the
followed by the wall of fire engines. Bill Birzsching
hizg younger brothers' room and commented to them
awcitedly, "I'11 bet 1t struck the church steeple.” Amazingly.
that i3 exactly what had happened, except the bolt missed the
lightening rod stationed on the top. TFortunately., the fire was
checked nearly immediately by the fire department. In fact, only
a few supporting beams were splintered. These could have been
rasily repaired by spiking two-by—fours on either side of the
heams, but instead., the towering thirty-foot steeple was
shortened significantly. Never again would the zteeple reach its
previous height, vet God in hig mercy had spared the church
itgelf 2o 1t could continue to point sinners to the heights.

The following schoolyear brought another fire. While
Teacher W. Huber was conducting classes, some of the older
cnildren in the back of the room noticed smoke seeping up through
i@ cracks in the floor. When Mr. Huber investigated, he
mes and promptly divected the children cut of the
the building. With the children safely removed, he
ran homes to call the fire department. By the time the fire was
extinguiahed,. it had damaged the furnace room and much of the
haclk wall of the school. The blower control on the old coal
furnace had been faulty, conseguently the furnace kept putting
out heat with no blower to dissipate it. Until the wall could be
repaired and replastered, the =chool desks

; 5 were transferred to
the church basement and clasges held there. Once more, the
goodness of the Lord was evident.

Shortly thereafter, an event occured which spelled the
beginning of the end for Pastor Schmelzer. It seems a son of one
of the prominent families in the congregation died an alcoholic.
Pressure was put on Schmelzer to bury the man, but he declined
because he had tried rvepeatedly to work with him to no avail.
Some of the big-wigs in the congregation told him that he "would"
bury the deceased, =0 Schmelzer stood up in the pulpit and told
the gathered people that, "I can't give you any comfort that this
man went to heaven.” & TFrom that day on, some members did
everything pogssible to make Schmelzer's life miserable. TFinally
he received a call to Hale, Michigan and gladly accepted i1t. Tor
twenty—-four vears, Pastor Schmelzer labored in love at New Salem.
How gad that he should have had to leave under such negative
circumstances when he had done so much for the congregation. God
is alwaye good: man ig not always so. This truth would be
wnatrated numerous times in the years to follow az a few high-
1T members caused countless grief to New Salem's called
workers.

Nathaniel Luetke moved into the parsonage next. HHe was a
vounger, taller man with a dark complexion, dark hair and
glassss, While he didn't preach as long as some of his
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predeoeﬁaorsﬁqhiﬁ gtyle of delivery 18 remembered as
"differant. " ™ Sometimes hisg listeners would have to bite their
tongues to keep from bhursting into laughter. TFor example, in one
sermon on Abraham's willingness to sacrafice Isaac, he had
Abraham commanding hig servants to, "Go and throw a saddle on my
ass." " Luetke butted heads with some of New Salem's hard heads
and moved s than two years after his arrival. A year-long
vacancy followed., New Salem had developed somewhat of a
reputation for itself within 9ynod; 1t was a congregation that
many called workers wanted to avoid.

Finally in mid-May, 1948, Pagtor Carl! Miller arrived.

Though he tended to preach forty-five minute sermons, he 1is
remambered as being a very fine preacher. When he spoke, he did
a0 very deliberately zo that one could not miss anything. Under
him, affairs flowed rather smoothly for awhile as the
congregation geared up for 1ts centennial celebration in 1953,
(the same vear Sebewaling observed its one-—hundredth birthday).

By September 20 and 27 when the thanksgiving services were held,
New Salem had undergone numerous changes. The former white altar
which had been built by August Kastorff for $75.00  was
tranaferred to Trinity Lutheran Church in Elkton. A new blond
altar and pulpit replaced those removed and are =till in use at
New Salem. HNew altarware was also purchased and is still visible
today in front of the church. The altar wag flanked by a United
States flag on one side and a flag with Luther's =zeal on the
other. Tresh black and beige (7) tiles were laid under the pewsz.
hher new additions included carpeting. lights, a hymnbeoard,
awnings, and shrubs.

If one were to view the front of the church from the
balcony, he or she would notice a rounded arch over the chancel.
Painted directly above the arch was a cross with a German
ingcribed banner draped over 1t. (No one meems to rememben
gxactly what the German phrase was.) The banner stretched across
the entire front of the church and was held up by an angel at
zach end, Underneath the angel on the East side was painted a
huge portrait of Martin Luther; under the other angel stood the
puloit.  Just West of the pulpit was painted a smaller portrailt
f a white-hearded man in a black robe holding a scroll. Who he
2
5
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was 15 another mysgtery. Certainly the new altar and pulpit stood

out. The casual viewer would have to admit that the church was
beautiful ly redecorated.

Yet. things were not as they should bhe. Though an affable
fellow, a few members disliked Pastor Miller, (some of the same
ones who disliked the previous pastors who would not bow to their
wighes), and tensions rose. Eventually Pastor Miller refused to
give communion Lo some members. Apparantly. steps were even
being taken to excommunicate some due to unrepentance. One
atensd menber went straight to District President Press and
in the hig guns against Miller. Pastor Miller had

-

confided in an associate pastor whoe in turn revealed what was
zaid to Press himself. The day of the meeting, Press drove to
the church, parked his car, and, without a word to Miller., walted
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for meeting time in his vehicle with the accused. When the
meeting was to begin, he s@trolled into the building with his big
guns loaded. Press made it clear in no uncertain terms that if
the man under church discipline were excommunicated, he would
ewcommunicate the entire congregation. That stilled the
sngregation.  Then, when Pastor Miller could not come to the
rme That Press demanded, he turned in his resgignation. That
tilled Miller. It seems there was faulf on both sides: at
least, the fault waz hy no means completely one-sided.
Regardless, the incident demonstrates the type of underhanded,
heavy~handed tacticz that were common at New Salem at the time.
In this cage, a minister's career was brought to an early demise.
Not =murprising., a lenghthy vacancy followed again. Finally,
r Karl Neumann accepted the call to New Salem in 192%6. In

oY ~ to bring him to Sebewaing, however., the congregation had to
move him all the way from California. That in itself cost the
congregation handsomely, but in the first congregational mesting
T 11, blond pastor inquired how much debt the congregation
carried. When he was told. "None!" he responded, "We're going to
change that." Tand he did. In 1957 a new Allen organ was
purchased and installed, and the old organ chamber was converted
into the church office. No soonsr was the new organ in place
when the energetic pastor began to promote an addition to the
zchool . Work for this began in early April of 1938 and was
completed by the start of school in September. Included in the
new huilding were the classroom for the younger grades, the
libravry/office, the girl's and boy's bathrooms, the new furnace
room, and the janitor room. These additions were dedicated on
January 18, 1959, Pastor Neumann is reported to have bheen "good
on the pulpit.” ™ He must have been ingpiring if he could
ancourage New Salem to incur two hefty empenditures such as a new
organ and a massive building project on the school within the
hree years of hiz tenure!

During Pastor Neumann's stay, a new man teacher gpent a few
months in ebhewaing. While New Salem was blezsed with many
2 »1lent teachers before him and after him, this man occupies a
place of gpecial distinction in our history. Hiz name was Arthur

TIavth and he wasn't even supposed to come to Sebewaing. He
voluntesr student who was sent to Ohio, but he switched
with the man assigned to New Salem so he would he closer to
irlfriend who was teaching in the Lansing area. (Apparantly

yae completely flipped over this girl.) In the classroom,. hig
students shuddered if they were threatened with disciplinary
measures because he would have them sit on the piano bench to
shell and eat peanuts as punishment. Outside of the classroom,
My . Hackbarth tended to do a lot of things on his own without
consulting anyone. For example, he left for Christmas vacation
without a word to the Church Council or the Board of Education
and the hot water furnace in the school froze up. When he
returned, it was inoperable. Then, since he didn't want to teach
anymore, he hired a woman teacher without a word to the Board of
Bducation. When he did mention it to Rollie Brenner, whom he was
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stayving with at the time, Rollie answered that the teachers are

hired by the congregation. '"Well, I'm quitting." was Arthur's
regponse. Consequently, the Neumanns finished the school year,
Mrs. Lorraine Neumann teaching the younger grades and Pastor
oversesing the older children. From this time on, New Salem
school would he divided into two rooms. (The now-married Mr,
Hackbarth ig still a teacher in our synod, and, I'm sure, i3 much
matured from his initial experience at New Balem.)

By the 57-58 gchool vyear, Allan Treichel had arrvived on the

scene.  He remained at New Salem for six vears, the longest stay
of cher since William Arvas in the 19308, He is

remembered as a fine teacher. bul some also remember him fondly
for the twelve voice men's acappella choir he organized.

In 1959, Pastor Neumann accepted a call. During New Zalem's
vacangy, Pastor Schroeder from Berne provided the congregation
with the Word and Sacraments until Pastor Vosgz arrived in 1960.
Pastor Veoss was a taller, balding man with horn-rimmed glasses
and large hands. He waz almost sixty vears old when he began hisg
minigtry in the small congregation in the thumb of Michigan.
Degpite hiz age, "he still had a lot of git in him," “and he
=zti1ll was thoroughly German. He continued to hold special German

rvices several Times a vear as long as he wag 1in Sebewalng.

o W5
When he first arvived, the fellowship issue was boiling between
Wigsconsin and Misscuril Synod. Affter church, Pastor Voss would
read the literature distributed by our synod in order to keep the
congregation informed. Then, in 1961 when Synod voted to split
from Missouri, they needed ratification from the individual
congregations. When a show of hands at Ngw Salem was called for,
the members responded with 100% backing. ™

Things went rather well for the first five years or so of
hig ministry in New Salem. CGradually, understandably., he began
to slow down somewhat. He frequently slipped into religious
¢liches and repetition in his sermons and the church records
zlipped as well., He wag a soclalizer,. however, and was generally
well—1iked and appreciated by the congregational members.

Perhaps the biggest headaches he faced in New Salem roge out
of echool affaire. First, at the end of the 1963 schocl vear,
the congregation was losing both its teachers. Allan Treichel
) hted a call to teach in a highschool in Wisconsin and
hen/Birgching was pregnant with the writer.

v. MPagstor Voss and the congregation needed nct one,
duates from New Ulm. Fortunately for the

bion, they were sent a husband and wife team by the names
> and Ann Rausch. It was a unique situation in that both
teachers could live in one teacherage.

Principle Rausch inherited a school with declining
attendance in a congregation with declining support for their
zchool .  Where the number of students had never dipped below 31
for years and years, the 1963-64 yeay began with 21 children. ™~
Only 19 attended the following yvear "and talk of closing the
school besgan circulating among the congregation. Strangely, the
wholehearted, unanimous bhacking one would expect among all the
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pawwntu with school~age c¢hildren was lacking. Concern that the
hildren didn't have all the opportunities that the public schocol

tulwptﬂ had influenced some to keep their children out of tiny
New Salem. Apparantly the fact that their children weren't able
to receive daily instruction in the Word of God was not a
COncern.

Certainly the haphazard situation in the younger grades
clagsroom in the 1964-63 ,choolyear did not help the matter.
Pagtor Voss was informed that a new teacher would be needed for
the vounger grades because Ann Rausch was pregnant. Either he
was unable to locate a replacement, or he dragged his feet in the
process, so Ann Rausch started the year. A month later, she gave
birth to daughter Sheryl [my wifel] and Ruth Birsching took over.
The problem with that arrangement was that she was also pregnant
fwith my brother]. @ her due date approached, it became
necessary to acramble for another teacher. Finally, Misz Marilyn
Zabell from Bayv City was hired to f£inish the vyear.

When the attepdance projection for the 1965-66 year revealed
only 12 =tudents,. “the death nell for the gradeschool was
zounded. At the voters meseting the toplic received considerable
debate. Mozt adveocated that the cost of the schoeol did not
balance with the low numbers of students projected. They claimed
that the sgchocl was impractical. The minority maintained that no
could be placed on a scoul and that in a few years the
ance would rise again. When the vote was taken, the motion
se the school passegd by a mere one or two votes over the
~eqquired 2/3s majority. “olv vears after a brand new addition
was built, the school doors were closed to the children of New
Salem. Inzgtead, the building was rented to the public school for
ite use. The following year, the talents of George Rausch were
put to use in 5t. Matthews, Benton Harbor.

While the closing of thﬁ gradeschool grieved George Rausch,
Pastor Voss certainly felt some grief as well. To his credit, he
exhorted the congregation on the importance of bolstering their
Sunday School program with the day school no longer available.

The congregation took his words to heart; attendance at Sunday
School skyrocketed to seventy-five children that very year. ©
Since it wag not smiled upon in Synod to allow a parochial
gradeschocl to c¢lose, Pastor Voss received his share of flack
from his superiors. He was informed that, due to the excess of
teachers at the time, Synod could provide New Salem with an
pxperienced man with the special title of Christian Education
AQVLSOT Enter Mr., Martin Roehler in 1969. He had taken a

from teaching due f£o health problems, but his spunk was

hou1+hv az ever. Hisg call included playing the organ, directing
the choir, organizing a youth group. and overseeing the Sunday

School program. He wag a very capable man., teaching even the
Adult Catechism Classes once a week., When he arrived at New
Galem, he arrlved with every intention of reopening the school.
The Board of Education agreed whole-heartedly, vet the men dare
not push too hard to quickly — the school iszue was a touchy
aubiject. Gradually. the attitude in the congregation bhegan to
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rerhaps the parents began to change. Still, it would
before New Salem Lutheran Schocel would be back in

1”67 revealed the goodness of God anew: the church was
remodeled,. The dull, rolled tin which covered the interior of
the church was covered with the handsome walnut paneling that
Still ‘11@s the walls today. The visible beams were darkly
=l and a white, tectum celling was installed around them.
were mounted, along with a new hymnboard, and the
~s were recessed. Red carpeting was laid and fres

E 1t applied. When the congregaltion gathered on June 11 for the
gpecial zervice of praise, they gathered in a gorgeous worship
facility. The membhers of New Salem had much for which to praise
thelr Lord!

By the Summer of 1972, Pastor Voss was ready to retire. For
eleven vears, he had served his congregation faithfully. His row
had contained its share of weeds., as does every row, but through
it all Pastor Vozs had kept hoeing, had kept cultivating and
nurturing. sc¢ that the enemy could not destroy the crop. Pastor
Struck served the congregation as vacancy pashtor while New Salem
called from the flmldw Amazingly, the first man they contacted
accepted the call.

In September of that same year, Pastor Phillip Huebner and

hfS ‘amily moved into the parscnage. When he first arrived and
be hegan an extersive exercise routine, he was quite
He wore an ex mely short—cropped haircut and
For a few yeargﬁ things went well under his guidance
» his arrival, on October 14, the cohgrégatiom held an
gervice to commemorate 120 vears of existance and 100
mame church building. The church was painted for
] . tile floors were ﬁieced into the church and school
and the parking lot was established.

Ths following vear., 1974, Mr. Roehler and numerous other

wdlividuals' goal wag realized; New Salem Lutheran School
renad.  The attitude among the congregation had slowly wavered
in favor of Chrisgtian BEducation. HNumerous families were
pooling all the way to St. Johns School in Pigeon in order to
~helr children taught the joyous truths of Christianity on a
dailv bagis. At one Lime., as many as eight children representing
four families from Sehewaing were attending the Pigeon school.
The baclking was present, the schoeol buillding was available, and
the principal was poised in the blocks for a running start. The
final details were taken care of, including the arrival of Miss
Leouls Lindke as the lower room teacher. When the first day of
school began, thirty children tried to get themselves comfortable
in the desks at New ualom Lutheran School.

My, Roehler was quite an elderly man when he took the helm
of a dayschool dgdlﬂ, yvet there was still a spring to his step. a
thunder to hig voice, and a stesl-trap mind to hoot. There
wasn't a trick he hadn't ssen. but the boys tried anvways. To
atbempt To be excuged to the washroom with the usual hand gesture
more than to tempt fate. A gpit-ball war resulted in a
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lozs for both sides when he set the terms of the truce. Playing
hookey was terminated after one day with a call to the parents.
The firecracker—in—the-~bathroom stunt brought heat of quite
ancther zort.

Regarding discipline, he functiconed in the new school with
Old school techniques. If Mr. Roehler threatened to "pin yvour

2alrs back' or "box vour ears', the student took him seriously and
honhﬁdwr@d himself fortunate to have received a warning. The
lezs fortunate were "guffed" on the spot. And when Mr. Roehler
cuffed wou, yvou were cuffed in a bhig way: love taps were not his
J.y]cn Needless to say. hizs four grade classroom was always
orderly. The students respected him because he kept them 1In line
and because he was an excellant teacher.

Twe incidents involving Martin Roehler stand out in the
writer's mind., The first is the day that the dreaded
calisthenics which he led in the school basement was livened up
congiderably because his zipper was open. Many were unable to
function dus to a sudden attack of the giggles. The second 1s
the day he joined several of his students for an early morning
duckhunt decked out in blaze orange. Not only did every duck in
the gtate avoid us by miles, but not a few hunters avoided us as
wall., The hunters went home with as many ducks as they began
with, and nearly as many shells as well.

While the school prospered, circumstances in the
congregation as a whole did not fare as well. Difficulties arose
between Pastor Husbner and his parishioners. Unfortunately he
had the knack of alienating hisg people, bhoth in the pulpit and in
person, and several long—time members transferred out of New
Salem. simply dropped out of the church altogether.

Members hlp at New Salem was in a steady decline and so was the
morales: even the spirituality of the congregation suffered. The
ﬂVﬁblom” 1nv“1vmd are too entangled and extensive. and much too
‘s history, to deal with here. But finally,.
: v Summer of 1982, after District President

's asgistance had been Smuqht Pastor Huebner preached his
sermort.  Not the congregation, not his children,

b1y not even his own wife, knew it was coming.
rezignation, he and his family moved to Wisconsin and
lem found itself with a vacancy again.

that occured during Pastor Huebner's tenures

3

demerve B hw“ﬁ. First of all, one Sunday morning's church
service 1in 1978 {?) has the dubicug distinction of beginning with
a bhang. Az long-time bell-ringer Arncold Jedele pulled alternatly

on the three bell ropes in the balcony to signal the beginning of
rehip, a ominous crash gounded directly over his hoad One of
Lho bell-hammers had let lcoose and dropped to the ceiling tiles
above him. When asked about the incident he responded, " This

old bird, he heard what it was and I was looking! I thought that
maybe she'd come through. but then afterwards, when it didn't, I
knew I was safe.” 7 Arnie just kept pulling the ropes and
ringing the bells. From then on, however, the sound of one of
the bells was conspicuous by its absence.
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Alzo of significense was the building of a brand new
parsonage in 1980 by the members themselves. That same year it
was dedicated to the Lord's service. BAmazingly, the congregation
paid of f the parsonage debt a mere six years later. God's
goodness was still present and visible in New Salem despite the
problems 1t faced at the time. 1980 marked another noteworthy
event: the last German services were held. Pasztor Huebner had

continued the fine custom of pr@achlng in German 5evora1 times a
vear, Just as his pVPdO essors had. While he couldn't write and
preach German as Pastor Voss could, he would read German sermons
to the gathered peopl When attendance dwindled to fifteen
people or zo, 1t cided to discontinue them Still., German
had been maintained as a part of New Salem for an incredible 12
vesrs!
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gaking of German, Pastor Struck agalin gerved as vacancy

- Pagtor chbnﬁr g deparfure. He provided the
congr Abﬂrl'n with thig advice, "Forget the troubles qf the past.
en't focus on the problems, but focus on the good." ' Those are

Tive by, and that's exactly what Pastor Jon Stern did.
moment of his arrival in 1982 to the time he left, he

2 love and cooperation. Ironically, while the
under his great-grandfather in 1896¢, under Jon

ation became c¢logser-knit than perhaps 1t ever
en before in its history. So much could he said of Pastor
but let thisz simple phrase suffice: God blessed the
stion richly fhrough his minigtry. The Lord in his love
rovided New Salem with the boost that they needed after some
very trying Ltimes.

Perhaps one place where God's goodness is especially evident
in recent vears is New Salem Lutheran School. The congregation
s been blessed with diligent. dedicated teachers — teachers who
instruct the children in the four "R's"., but much more
impurtantly, in the Word of God. How wonderful, too, that the
parents in the congregation realize how heneficial Chrigtian
aducation ia! Principal David Lecker will tell you that for
vears the percentage of school-aged children to attend the
grad : 100%. The percentage 1g still in the nineties.

DU)JDq Pagtor SLtern's stay, much work on congregaticnal
property toolk place. In 1983, vinyl siding was applied to the
original qchool building. The following vear the teacherage was
reamodeled and the parking lot resurfaced. Next, in 19895, the
chuirch ba 2ment and kitchen were remodeled., finishing work wasg
done in the parsonages basement, and the church grounds were
landscaped. After a vear off, the gchool interior was painted in
1987 and, in 1982, the church bathrooms were remodeled. God
bleggsed Now “Galem over and over again

When Pastor Stern left MNew Salem after eight vyears of
gervice Lo serve the Lord as an assoclate pastor in Manitowac,
Wizconzin, he waa sent on his way with countless tears. He was
much loved, and always will be by many. It must be remembered,
however, that our gracious God has a reason and purpose for
evervthing: he had it all worked out bhefore the world even
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ewvisted. He will continue to bless New Salem in the future, just
as H@ has in the past. That is a certain and sure hope. When
one conslders eV&”kuJng that New Salem hasgs endured through the
vears, (and there is so much more behind the scenes thalt never
entered this work),. one cannot help but draw the conclusion that
New Salem ewists today solely by the goodness of our gracious

And how good He has been to New Salem! The written words of
some of New Salem's former pastors will serve as a fitting
conclusion to our history.

"The congregation possesses a beautiful debt~free property. vyet
the best and most delicious thing iz that they have God's Word,
pure and clear, and that the unadulterated sacraments are
administered in their midst. Mey the merciful God of love
mreaerve New Salem Congregation alwaye with his Word apd the
confession of the Lutheran Church." {Carl Binhammer).

I

“And so God hag been with ug in His Word, making of New Salem an
instrument of His, which hazs served Him and His Kingdom and the

countless souls it has talken under the shadow of its wings from

the cradle to the grave and the countless others who have always
; & : be guests, by dispensing the Means of Grace,

and the Sacraments. Many are they who have been
Firmed, taught and instructed in Christian Doctrine,

vigited and buried since New Salem Congregation was

£ who can tell how much, giving of their

ney ., de efforts fnr New Salem's welfare and bhest

intere . —— May we he blessed with many such faithful and
loyal members in yvears to come so that our children and
children's children may call us blessed.

Yes, may God remain with New Salem and bless it and keep it
in Hiz grace for years to come with love for Him and our fellow
men, peace and zeal to do the Lord's work, courage to face the
future trusting in the Almighty and strong faith, faith
unwavering in the redeeming work of Jesug Christ. the Son of God.
for the galvation of precious, blood-bought souls. " (Carl
Miller).

married
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”Without the Triune God, there would be no Christian congregation
name of New Salem in Sebewaing, Michigan. Without God's

g : would have been no pastors to preach the Gospel and
ddMlﬂiE 1 the sacraments, nor teachers to instruct the lambz of
Mew Salem. In Lactﬂ without God's help there would have been no
pb“}ﬂ* lang ; up this congregation. So, do you ses how

we are upon ﬂmd? For [all these yvears] God has
‘Jon Stern).

pralzed for all His goodnesses to New Salem

~arn Church!
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Friedrich Schmid
Christian Volz
Conrad Volz
Friedrich Nuffer
H. Steinecke
Robert Wiese
{vacancy}

Henry Gangnuss
Wilhelm Kramer
Chr. Metzger

G, Stern

Carl Binhammer
Gustav Schmelzer

Nathaniel Luetke
{vacancy}
Carl Miller

{vacancy:
Karl Neumann

Walter Voss

Phillip Huebner

Jonathan Stern

[* = pastor-teacher

SALEM PASTORS

|

1853

1854

185455
1855-59
1860-64
1864

186567
1868-85
1885-87
1888-90
1890-96

1896—-1921
192145

1945-47
194748
1948-55

1955-56
1956-59

196072

1972-82

1982-89

# = principall

TEACHERS

1896

1924-29
1925-26
1929-30
1930-34
1934-40
1940-43
1943-45
1945-47

1947-49
1949-50
1950~-54
195456
195657

185657

195763
195758
1958~-60
1960-63

1963-65
1963~-64
1964-69

1969-79
1974-77
1977-79

1979-81
1979-80

1981-83
198082
198285

1983-7
1985-86
198690

(?)

X % % %

F.W. Vogelpohl

"

w
Erna Hinz
Esther Bucholz
Norma Meister
Irene Zarling
William Arras
Roland Bode
W. Huber
Elizabeth Wagner

Don Zimmerman

Glenn Wiechmann

Gerald Berger

Reuben Kramer

Arthur Hackbarth
*

Lorraine Neumann
# Allen Treichel
Marian Treichel
Kathryn Daubert
Ruth Gieschen

# George Rausch
Ann Rausch

Ann Rausch/Ruth
Birsching/
Marilyn Zabell

# Martin Roehler
Louis Lindke
Kathryn Fillner
# Alan Greschner
Lori Greschner
# David Popp
Carol Rusch
Shirleen Maertz
# David Lecker
Carol Bredemann
Corin Biga/
Einhardt
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